STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Chesterfield County
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 24 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

MICHAEL CHAD LAMBERT,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000584

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to object to the admission of Petitioner's statement to law enforcement when the statement was not voluntary because the officer took the statement on the very night of the vehicular accident while Petitioner was in the emergency room suffering from serious injuries and under the influence of pain medications?

STATEMENT

Indictments

On October 27, 2008, Petitioner Michael Chad Lambert was indicted by the Chesterfield County Grand Jury for one count of felony DUI in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-5-2945(A)(2). App. 587-588. Petitioner was subsequently indicted on January 11, 2010 for reckless homicide in violation of § 56-5-2010 and involuntary manslaughter in violation of § 16-3-60. App. 590-591; 593-594.

Trial and Guilty Verdict

Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury on February 8-11, 2010. App. 1. Petitioner was represented by James C. Cox, Jr., and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Kernard E. Redmond and Adam M. Foard. Id.

The jury found Petitioner guilty on all charges. App. 484, ll. 6-17. Judge Burch sentenced Petitioner to twenty-two years for felony DUI, ten years for reckless homicide, and five years for involuntary manslaughter. The sentences were to run concurrently. App. 495, l. 24 – 497, l. 13. Petitioner did not file a direct appeal.

PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) on February 4, 2011. App. 500-506. The State filed its Return on August 11, 2010. App. 507-511.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith on January 11, 2013. App. 512-577. Petitioner was represented by Andrew F. McLeod, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Tyson A. Johnson, Sr. App. 512. Both Petitioner and his trial counsel testified at the hearing. App. 517-571.

Order of Dismissal

Judge Goldsmith issued his Order of Dismissal on February 13, 2013, denying and dismissing Petitioner's PCR application with prejudice. App. 579-584. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant facts of trial

This case arises out of a vehicular collision which resulted in the death of Darryl Quick. The State contended that on July 23, 2008, Petitioner, while under the influence of alcohol, crossed the center line of US Highway 1, North of McBee, South Carolina and collided head-on with the Cadillac driven by Quick resulting in the death of Quick. App. 588.

Prior to trial, Petitioner moved the Trial Court to transfer the case from Chesterfield County due to the “heavy county-wide pre-trial publicity” from the date of the accident. Supp. App. 10-11. In his motion, Petitioner asserted that Deputy Darryl Quick was “a well-known member of the entire Chesterfield Community, a long-time law enforcement officer, and held in such high esteem by the entire community” Supp. App. 10. In support of his motion, Petitioner referenced the Solicitor’s comments to the media: “This case, the loss of this officer, drives home the point that we cannot have any tolerance of people who get on the highway and drive under the influence, especially twice the legal limit. I don’t know what it will take for people to learn that officers, law enforcement, and prosecutors just will not put up with this anymore.” Supp. App. 10-11.

As a result of the pre-trial publicity and the deceased’s status as a highly regarded law enforcement officer in the community, Petitioner argued that his right to a trial by a fair, competent, and impartial jury was compromised. Supp. App. 11.

On October 6, 2009, a pre-trial hearing was held on the motion to change venue before Judge Burch. Supp. App. 1-8. The Trial Court ruled that under State v. Manning, 329 S.C. 1, 495 S.E.2d 191 (1997), it needed to attempt to seat a jury before it could decide

whether or not it was possible to obtain an impartial jury despite the extensive pre-trial publicity. Supp. App. 7, l. 18 – 8, l. 12.

The trial began four months later on February 8, 2010 and voir dire of the jury was conducted by the Trial Court. App. 11, l. 2 – 40, l. 25. Multiple jurors indicated that they knew Darryl Quick or his wife Michelle Quick, either through the school where Michelle Quick taught, the school where Darryl Quick served as a resource officer, or through law enforcement ties. App. 32, l. 10 – 33, l. 20; 37, ll. 15-19. One potential juror indicated that he had “discussed [the case] several times in the last year and a half with different people.” App. 33, ll. 18-20.

At least eleven jurors had either read about the case in the newspaper or viewed coverage of the case on television. App. 33, l. 21 – 36, 21. Several jurors indicated discussing the case with others, and at least one potential juror indicated discussing the case with local law enforcement officers. App. 33, ll. 18-20; 35, ll. 3-22.

The jury was selected, and Petitioner’s trial counsel did not renew his motion to change venue based upon the deceased’s status and substantial pre-trial publicity. App. 41, l. 8 – 48, l. 3. After the jury had been selected, another juror had to be excused for failing to disclose that she worked in the same school as the wife of the deceased. App. 56, l. 7 – 60, l. 7.

At trial, there was no dispute that the accident caused the death of Darryl Quick. App. 103, l. 10 – 104, l.2. The parties hotly contested why the accident happened and whether Quick or Petitioner was at fault for the accident.

The accident happened on July 23, 2008 around 6:30 p.m. in the evening on Highway One north of McBee. App. 105, ll. 23-25; 106, ll. 6-8; 129, ll. 14-17; 242, ll. 23-25.

Reginald Parker, an emergency room physician who happened to come upon the scene of the accident shortly after it happened, testified that the roadway was “slightly wet,” “but there was no standing water.” Parker said there was a light fog that evening, with about thirty to fifty feet visibility. App. 104, ll. 19-23; 105, l. 23 – 107, l. 7; 109, ll. 7-12.

Craig Walker, the Deputy Coroner for Chesterfield County, responded to the scene of the wreck on Highway One that evening. App. 118, l. 1 – 119, l. 4. Upon his arrival to the scene, he “noticed two vehicles. One partially blocking the roadway. Light rain. Didn’t notice any water or anything on the road, any hazards.” App. 119, ll. 5-10. He testified that Petitioner had been driving the red pickup truck at the scene, while Quick had been driving the white Cadillac. App. 128, ll. 7-13.

On cross-examination, Deputy Coroner Walker admitted that his report indicated that “there had been heavy rain before the accident.” App. 132, ll. 2-4. He acknowledged that weather could be a contributing factor to the cause of the accident. App. 132, ll. 5-7.

Highway Patrol Trooper Leslie Davis was called out to the scene of the accident. He testified that by the time he arrived at the scene, the rain had stopped. He described the heavy rains that had been happening before the accident: “It was a heavy downpour from the time I headed to the scene. It had been raining shortly early that day.” App. 134, l. 17 – 135, l.1; 137, ll. 12-15.

After Trooper Davis left the scene of the accident, he went to Carolina Pines Hospital in Hartsville to speak with Petitioner. App. 141, ll. 16 – 22. Trooper Davis met

with Petitioner in the emergency room and read him his Miranda¹ rights. App. 141, l. 22-142, l. 6. Trooper Davis videotaped the interview, and Petitioner admitted that he drank beer before the accident. App. 142, ll. 9-10. Trooper Davis said Petitioner told him he was traveling from Alabama to his mother's house in Patrick, South Carolina and that he thought he must have fallen asleep before the accident. App. 142, l. 11 – 143, l. 22. Petitioner's trial counsel did not make any objection to this admission of this statement and did not even request a Jackson v. Denno² hearing to determine whether the statement was voluntary.

When this statement was taken, Petitioner had just woken up in the hospital emergency room. App. 390, ll. 9-20. His injuries were severe, and he ended up staying in the hospital for a week. App. 390, ll. 21-22. He had lacerations to his left ear and the back of his head. He had a fractured disk in his back and a fractured rib on the left side. He also had a collapsed lung, a broken femur in two places, and a crushed ankle. App. 390, l. 25 – 391, l. 4. Petitioner had no recollection of giving Trooper Davis a statement while in the emergency room. App. 392, ll. 9-20.

Trooper Robert O'Donnell also investigated the accident. App. 240, ll. 2-17; 242, ll. 20-23. Trooper O'Donnell was a member of the Multi-Disciplinary Action Investigation Team (“M.A.I.T.”) and was qualified by the Trial Court as an expert in accident reconstruction. App. 240, l. 25 – 242, l. 17. He responded to the scene around 9:00 p.m. on the evening of the accident. App. 242, l. 23 – 243, l. 5; 245, ll. 1-3. He noted that there was standing water on the roadway pre and post collision. App. 244, ll. 17-19.

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

² 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Sergeant Steve Breland was also a member of the Highway Patrol's M.A.I.T. team and was also qualified in the area of accident reconstruction. App. 251, l. 21 – 256, l. 3. Based upon his investigation of Quick's vehicle, it was his opinion that Quick braked three seconds before the collision. App. 268, ll. 12-15.

Retired Corporal Timothy Perry was employed with the Highway Patrol on the date of the accident. He too was a member the M.A.I.T. team and qualified as an expert witness in accident reconstruction. App. 270, l. 10 – 274, l. 17. He also investigated this accident. On the day after the accident, he went to the scene to observe it and look around but he did not document anything that day. App. 275, ll. 7 – 23. On July 25, 2008, he examined the two vehicles involved in the wreck in an attempt to understand how the vehicles collided. App. 275, l. 23 – 276, l. 5.

Based upon Corporal Perry's investigation of the vehicles and the scene of the accident, he testified that at the moment of impact, both vehicles were left of the center of the road – in other words, both vehicles were not in their lawful lanes of travel. App. 324, ll. 8-11. Despite the fact that both vehicles were left of the center, Corporal Perry concluded that Petitioner was the driver at fault in the collision. He explained a phenomenon called "fake shift symptom." He said that drivers should always want to steer to the right – go off the road – before a collision, but that occasionally there are drivers that will nevertheless drive to the left. App. 324, ll. 12-22.

Corporal Perry believed that Quick, upon seeing Petitioner's vehicle cross the center line, must have also then driven left of the center line, perhaps to avoid a guardrail off to the right of the road. Corporal Perry also testified that after the collision, Petitioner's vehicle was found across the center line, but at an angle indicating that he was trying to head back

into his lane. Corporal Perry testified that unfortunately these two individuals must have tried to avoid the accident at the same time and somehow met each other. App. 324, l. 23 – 329, l. 9.

Based upon this conjectural theory, Corporal Perry concluded that Petitioner left his lane of travel, crossed the center line, and tried to head back into his lane at the time of impact. App. 331, ll. 22-25. He believed Quick, even though he had crossed the center line too, was “obviously attempting to avoid the situation or a collision” based on the “Fake Left Syndrome.”³ App. 332, ll. 3-14.

Based upon his accident investigation, Corporal Perry stated:

It was our opinion that [Petitioner] set the scenario up, and then obviously realizes that he’s across the center line and attempts to go back to his natural lane. But at the same time the driver of the other vehicle attempted to change lanes to avoid the situation which actually both of them simultaneously had the same thought and both tried to go back and they actually meet.

App. 340, ll. 18-24.

On cross-examination, Corporal Perry admitted that the South Carolina Driver’s Manual instructs drivers facing an oncoming vehicle to “sound [their] horn and pull as far to the right as possible.” App. 343, l. 17 – 344, l. 11.

George Robert McElveen, a volunteer fireman, received an alert about the accident and headed to the accident scene around 7:20 p.m. He said that while traveling to the scene, “[i]t was raining real hard” and a bad thunderstorm was in the area at the time. App. 356, l. 1 – 359, l. 25. When he arrived at the wreck scene, he “saw two vehicles. One in the center of the roadway. One to the side of the roadway. A lot of water on the roadway.

³ Corporal Perry called this “fake shift syndrome” in his earlier testimony. App. 324, ll. 16-17.

Two occupants. One in each vehicle. Both were trapped.” App. 360, ll. 16-19. McElveen also testified that it was still daylight when he arrived at the scene. App. 363, ll. 7 – 11. He reiterated that the roadway “was very flooded. It was very wet. It was flooded out.” App. 363, ll. 23-24.

Howard Weatherford was also a volunteer fireman who responded to the accident. App. 367, l. 16 – 369, l. 16. He said that while driving to the wreck, the “rain was so hard you couldn’t hardly see the road in front of you.” App. 369, ll. 21-23. Weatherford further testified: “The day of the accident when I got there there was more water on the road than usually be on the road.” App. 372, ll. 1-2. The roadway contained “standing water.” App. 372, ll. 3-4.

In closing argument to the jury, trial counsel for Petitioner argued that the likely cause of the accident was that Quick’s Cadillac – with an anti-lock brake system - likely hydroplaned on the heavily wet roadway that was full of standing water. App. 292, ll. 14-15; 325, ll. 3-4; 449, ll. 9-16.

The jury found Petitioner guilty of felony DUI, reckless homicide, and involuntary manslaughter. App. 484, ll. 6-17. Prior to sentencing, Chesterfield County Sheriff Sam Parker appeared before the court and urged the judge to send a message to the people of Chesterfield County. App. 490, l. 11 – 491, l. 3. No direct appeal was taken.

Relevant Facts of the PCR Evidentiary Hearing

Petitioner testified that did not believe he was able to receive a fair trial in Chesterfield County. App. 518, ll. 8-12. He said that while his trial counsel did make motion to change venue, that motion was not renewed after selection of the jury. App. 518, l. 19 – 519, l. 7.

Petitioner also testified about giving a statement to Trooper Leslie Davis at the hospital on the night of the accident. Petitioner said in the statement he admitted to drinking some beer, but testified that when he gave the statement he “was under the influence of narcotics for the pain” he was suffering. App. 528, l. 5 – 529, l. 12. Petitioner testified to the serious nature of his injuries as a result of the accident: “lacerations to the head – front and back of the head; cracked ribs, punctured lung, my ankle was crushed, and my femur was a compound fracture.” App. 528, l. 25 – 529, l. 2. Petitioner said he gave his statement at the hospital while he was being treated for the serious injuries on the night of the accident. App. 529, ll. 6-12. Petitioner’s statement was allowed to be used in court, and his trial counsel made no motion to suppress the statement or otherwise objected to the admission of the statement at trial. App. 528, l. 15-529, l. 18.

Within minutes of being sentenced, Petitioner said that his trial counsel asked him if he wanted to appeal, and Petitioner told him no. App. 519, ll. 15-24. Petitioner did not feel, however, that he was in the right mental state to be making decisions about his legal options immediately following the sentencing. App. 520, ll. 3 – 6.

Trial counsel admitted that he did not renew the motion to change venue following jury selection. App. 545, ll. 17-24. He testified that he would have greatly preferred to try the case in another county besides Chesterfield: “[A]s his defense attorney I would have liked to have tried him in some other county.” App. 550, l. 21 – 551, l. 3; 559, ll. 5-6. Trial counsel believed that with the “death of a well thought of deputy sheriff who was also a minister, [Petitioner] could not get a fair trial in Chesterfield County.” App. 559, ll. 15-18.

Trial counsel also admitted not moving to exclude Petitioner's statement to Trooper Leslie Davis. App. 555, l. 24 – 556, l. 3. Trial counsel said he would have filed an appeal for Petitioner if Petitioner had told him to do so. App. 557, ll. 9-12.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR court rejected the grounds Petitioner set forth for post-conviction relief. App. 579-584. The PCR court ruled that Petitioner was not prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to object to Petitioner's statement to Trooper Leslie Davis because it was established at trial that Petitioner's blood alcohol level was .16. App. 581. The PCR court also ruled that Petitioner was not entitled to post-conviction relief for his trial counsel's failure to renew the motion to change venue following jury selection. The PCR court found that trial counsel testified he could not meet the legal standard for changing venue and that any defect was cured by proper voir dire. App. 582.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to object to the admission of Petitioner's statement to law enforcement when the statement was not voluntary because the officer took the statement on the very night of the vehicular accident while Petitioner was in the emergency room suffering from serious injuries and under the influence of pain medications.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (internal citations omitted). "The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted).

Deficient Performance and Prejudice

The statement Petitioner made to Trooper Davis on the night of the accident while Petitioner was in the hospital suffering from serious injuries and on pain medication was not voluntary, and there was a reasonable probability that the trial judge would have found the State failed to prove the voluntariness of Petitioner's statement by a preponderance of the evidence had Petitioner's trial counsel objected to the admissibility of the statement. See Dupree v. State, 305 S.C. 285, 408, S.E.2d 215 (1991).

The trial judge determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). The State bears the burden of showing the statement of the defendant was voluntary. Id. at 382, 652 S.E.2d at 450.

The test of voluntariness is “whether a defendant’s will was overborne” by the circumstances surrounding the given statement. The due process test takes into consideration the totality of all surrounding circumstances-both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation. Id. at 384, 652 S.E.2d at 451 (citing Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000)).

In Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680 (1993), the Supreme Court of the United States set forth a non-exclusive list of factors which may be considered in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis:

Under the due process approach . . . courts look to the totality of circumstances to determine whether a statement was voluntary. Those potential circumstances include not only the crucial element of police coercion, Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986); the length of the interrogation, Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143, 153–154 (1944); its location, see Reck v. Pate, 367 U.S. 433, 441 (1961); its continuity, Leyra v. Denno, 347 U.S. 556, 561 (1954); the defendant's maturity, Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 599–601 (1948) (opinion of Douglas, J.); education, Clewis v. Texas, 386 U.S. 707, 712 (1967); ***physical condition***, Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S. 519, 520–521 (1968) (per curiam); and mental health, Fikes v. Alabama, 352 U.S. 191, 196 (1957).

507 U.S. at 693–94 (emphasis added).

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