STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN - 9 2014

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. Supreme Court**

The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-000584

---

Michael Chad Lambert, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The allegation trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of Petitioner's statement is not preserved for appellate review.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR judge erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of Petitioner's allegedly involuntary statement to Trooper Davis. However, the PCR judge did not rule upon the issue of whether trial counsel should have objected to the statement's admission. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

In his order, the PCR judge found "[Petitioner] voluntarily gave a statement to [T]rooper Leslie Davis admitting to drinking alcohol, to which counsel did not object." (App. p. 581). However, the PCR judge did not specifically address whether trial counsel should have objected to the admission of the statement. (See App. p. 581). Arguably, this issue was never presented to the PCR judge. In his summations, Petitioner merely argued he did not waive his right to a direct appeal, trial counsel did not preserve a motion for a new trial, and the conviction on the other indictments violated the Double Jeopardy Clause. (App. p. 571, line 20-p.573, line 14).

If Petitioner was seeking relief on the issue of trial counsel's failure to challenge the statement, testimony on this issue was directly presented to the PCR judge. (App. p. 529, lines 6-18). Petitioner should have filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to preserve that issue for appellate review. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) ("after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reason for those findings as required"). In this case, Petitioner did not file a Rule

59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend the order to specifically address trial counsel's failure to object to the statement made to Trooper Davis. Therefore, that issue is not preserved for this Court's review. Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 260 n.2, 523 S.E.2d 753, 755 n.2 (1999) ("Only final judgments or decisions may be reviewed by [an appellate court] in PCR actions."); Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety, 337 S.C. 19, 22, 522 S.E.2d 144, 145-46 (1999) ("The circuit court did not specifically address the issue, and where an issue presented to the circuit court in a civil case is not explicitly ruled upon in the final order, the issue must be raised by an appropriate post-trial motion to be preserved for appellate review.") (citing Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)).

**II. Probative evidence supports the PCR judge's findings trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of Petitioner's allegedly involuntary statement to Trooper Davis.**

Even if this Court finds the issue is preserved, the record contains probative evidence to support a finding that trial counsel was not ineffective. Therefore, the PCR judge properly denied Petitioner's application.

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. The Court presumes

counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668). The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The Court uses a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the Court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

This Court affords great deference to the post-conviction relief judge and will uphold its findings of fact and conclusions of law if the record contains "any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them." Bright v. State, 365 S.C. 355, 358, 618 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2005) (citing Carpood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000) (emphasis added)). Accordingly, this Court will only reverse if the record lacks any probative evidence supporting the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Ellenburg v. State, 367 S.C. 66, 70, 625 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006).

On July 23, 2008, at approximately 6:50 p.m., Petitioner's vehicle collided with Darrell Quick's vehicle, fatally injuring him. (App. pp. 118, line 21-p. 119, line 19). Petitioner testified he suffered injuries in the accident, including lacerations to the head, a fractured rib, a collapsed lung, a crushed ankle, and a fractured femur. (App. pp. 390, line 25-p. 391, line 4). Following the accident, while Petitioner was undergoing treatment for his injuries, State Trooper Leslie Davis arrived at the hospital to talk to

Petitioner about the accident. (App. p. 139, lines 8-10). Trooper Davis recorded the encounter on video, and the recording was admitted as evidence and played at trial. (App. p. 142, lines 7-8; p. 153, lines 6-7). Trooper Davis testified he “read [Petitioner] his rights,” but did not indicate Petitioner was placed under arrest at that time. (App. p. 141, line 20-p. 142, line 6). Trooper Davis testified he felt Petitioner understood what he was asking and even corrected Trooper Davis regarding his date of birth and name. (App. p. 143, lines 8-14). Trooper Davis testified Petitioner said “he thought he fell asleep at the time of the collision.” (App. p. 143, lines 17-20). Petitioner was given a ticket at the hospital for driving under the influence, but Trooper Davis took it back before leaving the hospital parking lot. (App. p. 156, line 20-p. 158 line 1). Petitioner was not formally charged with a crime until after the M.A.I.T. investigation was complete. (App. p. 156, lines 4-12).

Petitioner testified at trial he was in the hospital for a week and he did not remember speaking to Trooper Davis. (App. p. 390, line 22; p. 392, lines 9-20). He testified he was travelling from Alabama to South Carolina on the day of the accident. (App. p. 385, lines 6-11; p. 386, lines 9-10). He testified he made several stops while travelling from Georgia to South Carolina. (App. p. 386, lines 12-17). He made the first stop in Madison, Georgia at 2:00 p.m. (App. p. 398, lines 7-15). He testified he drank one beer at that time. (App. p. 398, lines 7-15). He made the second stop at the Georgia-/South Carolina state line at 3:30 p.m., where he drank two beers. (App. p. 398, lines 18-21). He made his final stop in Camden at 5:30 p.m., approximately one hour before the accident, and he testified he drank one beer at that stop as well. (App. p. 399, lines 5-11). Petitioner testified he drank four beers all together. (App. p. 408, line 3). He testified he did not have a problem driving or keeping his car under control at the time of the

accident. (App. p. 404, lines 14-18). He testified he did not think he fell asleep at the wheel, contrary to what he stated in his interview with Trooper Davis. (App. p. 404, line 21-p. 405 line 3).

Several beer cans were found outside of Petitioner's car on the ground following the accident. (App. p. 161, lines 4-12). Three of those beer cans contained DNA evidence matching Petitioner's DNA profile. (App. p. 194, lines 11-p. 195, line 4). Additionally, at trial, the forensic toxicologist testified Petitioner's blood sample, which was taken at the hospital on the night of the accident at approximately 9:00 p.m., indicated he had .163 blood alcohol content (BAC). (App p. 209, lines 24-p. 210 line 4).

**A. Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel's performance was deficient.**

Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to or make a motion to suppress statements Petitioner made to Trooper Davis during his hospitalization. (App. p. 528, lines 5-p. 529, line 18). However, Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving trial counsel's failure to object to the admission of statements constituted deficient performance because the statements were ultimately admissible and trial counsel articulated a valid strategy for wanting the statements presented to the jury.

**1. Petitioner was not in custody.**

Counsel's failure to object to the Petitioner's statements to Trooper Davis did not constitute deficient performance because Petitioner failed to allege or establish he was in custody when he made the statements. Trooper Davis testified he read Petitioner his rights, but did not indicate Petitioner was placed under arrest at that time. (App. p. 141, line 20-p. 142, line 6). "Whether a suspect is in custody is determined by an examination

of the totality of the circumstances, such as the location, purpose, and length of interrogation, and whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010). Such determination requires an objective analysis, “based on whether a reasonable person would have concluded he was in police custody.” Id. This Court articulated in State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 708, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1979) that “the mere giving of Miranda warnings did not convert [an] otherwise noncustodial situation into ‘custodial interrogation.’”

Here, though Petitioner’s freedom to leave was restricted because of his physical condition, no other circumstances of the questioning indicate he would have reasonably believed he was in custody. There is no indication in the record the questioning was unusually lengthy or made for any purpose other than to investigate the cause of the accident. Therefore, the record supports a holding that counsel was not deficient for failing to object to Petitioner’s statements to Trooper Davis.

## **2. Petitioner’s statement was not involuntary.**

Furthermore, trial counsel’s failure to object to the statements to Trooper Davis did not constitute deficient performance because Petitioner failed to prove the statements were involuntary. Petitioner relies on Mincey v. Arizona to support his contention the statements he made to Trooper Davis were involuntary. 437 U.S. 385 (1978). However, the facts of Mincey are distinguishable from the facts of this case. In Mincey, the detective told the defendant he was under arrest for murder, gave him his Miranda warnings, and began to question him about the events from earlier that evening. 437 U.S. at 396. However, in this case, though Trooper Davis read Petitioner his Miranda rights, the record contains no testimony indicating Trooper Davis had placed Petitioner under arrest prior to questioning him. (See App. p. 528, line 3- App. p. 529, line 18; App. p.

555, lines 8-13). Rather, Petitioner was given a ticket at the hospital for driving under the influence, which Trooper Davis took back before he ever left the hospital parking lot. (App. p. 156, line 20-p. 158 line 1). Petitioner was not formally charged with a crime until after the M.A.I.T. investigation was complete. (App. p. 156, lines 4-12). Additionally, in Mincey, the defendant was in the intensive care unit at the time and could not speak because he had a tube in his mouth, so he responded by writing answers on pieces of paper. 437 U.S. at 396. Here, there is no indication Petitioner was in intensive care, or that he was unable to speak. (App. p. 390 line 4-p. 392, line 18). Further, the defendant in Mincey repeatedly asked the detective to cease the interrogation until he could obtain counsel. 437 U.S. at 396. Petitioner did not allege that he asked Trooper Davis to stop questioning him at any time, nor did he allege he requested counsel. The detective in Mincey also questioned the defendant while he was fading in and out of consciousness. 437 U.S. at 401. Here, Trooper Davis testified Petitioner was alert and appeared to understand their discussions. Accordingly, the coercive circumstances present in Mincey were not present in this case.

In determining whether a statement is voluntarily made, the Court must consider the totality of the circumstances. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001). The court in State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 386, 652 S.E.2d 444, 452 (Ct. App. 2007), pointed out that South Carolina appellate courts have recognized the following factors are suitable for consideration in totality-of-the-circumstances analysis: “background, experience, and conduct of the accused; age; length of custody; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; threats of violence; and promises of leniency.” Petitioner failed to allege any of the foregoing factors were present or influential in this case. The court also held that “coercive police activity is a

necessary predicate to finding a statement is not voluntary.” Id. at 386, 652 S.E.2d at 452; see also Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986) (“[C]oercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not voluntary within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”). Here, Petitioner failed to show Trooper Davis engaged in coercive conduct while interviewing Petitioner at the hospital.

Instead, Petitioner merely contends he was intoxicated on pain medicine at the time he gave Trooper Davis. However, intoxication at the time a statement is made does not render such a statement involuntary. State v. Saxon, 261 S.C. 523, 529, 201 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1973) (“The fact that one is intoxicated at the time a confession is made does not necessarily render him incapable of comprehending the meaning and effect of his words. Therefore, proof that an accused was intoxicated at the time he made a confession does not render the statement inadmissible as a matter of law, unless the accused’s intoxication was such that he did not realize what he was saying.”). Again, Trooper Davis testified Petitioner was alert and appeared to understand their discussions. Thus, there is no evidence in the record, other than Petitioner’s self-serving statements,<sup>1</sup> indicating he did not voluntarily speak with Trooper Davis. Accordingly, ample evidence in the record supports a finding that trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the allegedly involuntary statements because the statements were admissible.

### **3. Counsel employed a valid trial strategy.**

Trial counsel testified the case “turned on the opinion of whether [Petitioner] was intoxicated or not,” but the jury was not convinced Petitioner was not intoxicated. (App. p. 564, lines 14-22; App. p. 554, line 21-p. 555, line 1). He further testified Petitioner

---

<sup>1</sup> The PCR judge found Petitioner’s testimony not credible. (App. p. 583). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (this Court gives great deference to a PCR judge’s credibility findings).

“was very honest when the officers came out and talked to him. And what he told them was the truth.” (App. p. 555, lines 5-7). When asked whether he made any motion to exclude Petitioner’s statement as involuntary, trial counsel testified that “all the information [he] had on the statements, notes and summaries was what [Petitioner] said was true.” (App. p. 555, lines 11-15). Trial counsel also testified “no method was available” to exclude evidence of Petitioner’s BAC of .163 taken at the hospital. (App. p. 555, lines 2-5). Trial counsel testified his trial strategy was to stress that if Petitioner was intoxicated, he would not have been able to dial phone numbers, drive, and talk on the phone at the same time. (App. p. 565, lines 8-19). Petitioner’s statement was consistent with the position he was not intoxicated.

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